

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Fat supplementation of human milk for promoting growth in preterm infants (Review)

Amissah EA, Brown J, Harding JE

Amissah EA, Brown J, Harding JE. Fat supplementation of human milk for promoting growth in preterm infants. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 8. Art. No.: CD000341. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000341.pub3.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS	3
BACKGROUND	5
OBJECTIVES	6
METHODS	6
RESULTS	8
Figure 1	9
Figure 2.	10
Figure 3	11
DISCUSSION	12
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	13
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	13
REFERENCES	14
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	16
DATA AND ANALYSES	18
Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1: Fat supplementation vs control, Outcome 1: Growth - weight	19
Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1: Fat supplementation vs control, Outcome 2: Growth - length	19
Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1: Fat supplementation vs control, Outcome 3: Growth - head circumference	19
Analysis 1.4. Comparison 1: Fat supplementation vs control, Outcome 4: Feeding intolerance	20
APPENDICES	20
WHAT'S NEW	26
HISTORY	26
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	27
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	27
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	27
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW	28
INDEX TERMS	28



[Intervention Review]

Fat supplementation of human milk for promoting growth in preterm infants

Emma A Amissah¹, Julie Brown², Jane E Harding¹

¹Liggins Institute, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand. ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand

Contact: Jane E Harding, j.harding@auckland.ac.nz.

Editorial group: Cochrane Neonatal Group. **Publication status and date:** Edited (no change to conclusions), published in Issue 10, 2020.

Citation: Amissah EA, Brown J, Harding JE. Fat supplementation of human milk for promoting growth in preterm infants. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 8. Art. No.: CD000341. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000341.pub3.

Copyright © 2020 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

As preterm infants do not experience the nutrient accretion and rapid growth phase of the third trimester of pregnancy, they are vulnerable to postnatal nutritional deficits, including of fat. Consequently, they require higher fat intakes compared to their full term counterparts to achieve adequate growth and development. Human milk fat provides the major energy needs of the preterm infant and also contributes to several metabolic and physiological functions. Although human milk has many benefits for this population, its fat content is highly variable and may be inadequate for their optimum growth and development. This is a 2020 update of a Cochrane Review last published in 2000.

Objectives

To determine whether supplementation of human milk with fat compared with unsupplemented human milk fed to preterm infants improves growth, body composition, cardio-metabolic, and neurodevelopmental outcomes without significant adverse effects.

Search methods

We used the standard search strategy of Cochrane Neonatal to search Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL 2019, Issue 8) in the Cochrane Library and MEDLINE via PubMed on 23 August 2019. We also searched clinical trials databases and the reference lists of retrieved articles for randomised controlled trials and quasi-randomised trials.

Selection criteria

Published and unpublished randomised controlled trials were eligible if they used random or quasi-random methods to allocate preterm infants fed human milk in hospital to supplementation or no supplementation with additional fat.

Data collection and analysis

No new randomised controlled trials matching the selection criteria were found but we extracted data from the previously included trial due to changes in review outcomes from when the protocol was first published. Two reviewers independently abstracted data, assessed trial quality, and the quality of evidence at the outcome level using the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) criteria. We planned to perform meta-analyses using risk ratio (RR) for dichotomous data and mean difference (MD) for continuous data, with their respective 95% confidence intervals (CIs). We planned to use a fixed-effect model and to explore potential causes of heterogeneity via sensitivity analyses.

Main results

One randomised trial involving 14 preterm infants was included. This risk of bias was unclear for all methodological domains. Very lowquality evidence means that there is uncertainty about the effect of fat supplemention on in-hospital rates of growth in weight (MD 0.6 g/



kg/day, 95% CI –2.4 to 3.6; 1 RCT, n = 14 infants,), length (MD 0.1 cm/week, 95% CI –0.08 to 0.3; 1 RCT, n = 14 infants) and head circumference (MD 0.2 cm/week, 95% CI –0.07 to 0.4; 1 RCT n = 14 infants), and on the risk of feeding intolerance (RR 3.0, 95% CI 0.1 to 64.3; 1 RCT, n = 16 infants). No data were available regarding the effects of fat supplementation on the risk of necrotising enterocolitis or neurodevelopmental outcomes.

Authors' conclusions

The one included trial suggests no evidence of an effect of fat supplementation of human milk on short-term growth and feeding intolerance in preterm infants. However, the very low-quality evidence, small sample size, few events, and low precision diminishes our confidence that these results reflect the true effect of fat supplementation of human milk in preterm infants, and no long-term outcomes were reported. Further high-quality research should evaluate the effect on growth, neurodevelopmental and cardio-metabolic outcomes in the context of the development of multicomponent fortifiers.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Fat supplementation of human milk for promoting growth in preterm infants

Review question

We reviewed the evidence to determine whether addition of extra fat (supplements) to human milk fed to infants born early (preterm) compared with no additional fat improves growth, body fat, obesity, heart problems, high blood sugar, and brain development, without significant side effects.

Background

Preterm babies at birth lack adequate fat stores because they are born before laying down nutrient stores in the rapid growth phase of the third trimester of pregnancy. Consequently, they require higher fat intakes compared to their full term counterparts to achieve adequate growth and development. Fat provides approximately half of the calories in human milk and supports growth and brain development. Although human milk has many benefits for the preterm baby, it may contain variable and insufficient quantities of fat for adequate growth and development. Inadequate supply of fat in preterm infants fed human milk may adversely affect their growth and development. Therefore, additional fat may be added to human milk, usually by adding commercially prepared fat mixtures to a small amount (e.g. 20 mL) of expressed breast milk.

Study characteristics

We included one trial with very low-quality evidence and involving 14 preterm infants. The search is up to date as of August 2019.

Key results

Addition of extra fat to human milk for preterm infants showed no clear benefits with regards to short-term rates of weight gain, length gain, and head growth. There was no evidence that the extra fat increased the risk of feeding intolerance. No data were available regarding the effects of addition of extra fat on long-term growth, body fat, obesity, high blood sugar, or brain development. There were also limited data to assess side effects.

Conclusions

There was insufficient high-quality evidence on the benefits and harms of the addition of extra fat to human milk in preterm infants, and no long-term outcomes have been reported. Since addition of extra fat to human milk is currently done as part of multi-nutrient fortification, future trials should evaluate the effect of the fat component on short- and long-term growth, body fat, obesity, high blood sugar, or brain development. The right amount and composition of extra fat needed, side effects, and delivery practices should also be evaluated.

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

Summary of findings 1. Fat supplementation compared to control for promoting growth in preterm infants

Fat supplementation compared to control for promoting growth in preterm infants

Patient or population: preterm infants

Setting: two neonatal units in Sweden

Intervention: fat supplementation of human milk

Comparison: unsupplemented human milk

Outcomes	Anticipated absolute effects* (95% CI)	Relative effect (95% CI)	№ of partici- pants	Quality of the evidence	Comments
	Risk with control	Risk with Fat supple- mentation		(studies)	(GRADE)	
Growth - weight - weight gain (g/kg/day)	The mean weight gain in the unsupplemented human milk group was 15.3 g/kg/day.	MD 0.6 g/kg/day high- er (2.4 lower to 3.6 high- er)	-	14 (1 RCT)	⊕⊝⊝⊝ Very low ¹²	
Growth - length - length gain (cm/week)	The mean length gain in the unsupplemented human milk group was 0.8 cm/week.	MD 0.1 cm/week high- er (0.08 lower to 0.3 high- er)	-	14 (1 RCT)	⊕⊝⊝⊝ Very low ¹²	
Growth - head circumfer- ence - head growth (cm/ week)	The mean head growth in the unsupplemented human milk group was 0.9 cm/week.	MD 0.2 cm/week high- er (0.07 lower to 0.4 high- er)	-	14 (1 RCT)	⊕⊝⊝⊝ Very low ¹²	
Neurodevelopmental out- comes	-	-	-	-	-	None of the included studies reported on neurodevelopmental outcomes.
Duration of hospital ad- mission (days)	-	-	-	-	-	None of the included studies reported on duration of hospital admission.
Feeding intolerance	0 per 1000	0 per 1000 (0 to 0)	RR 3.00 (0.1 to 64.3)	16 (1 RCT)	⊕⊝⊝⊝ Very low ¹³	

Necrotising enterocolitis

None of the included studies reported on necrotising enterocolitis.

*The risk in the intervention group (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the relative effect of the intervention (and its 95% CI).

CI: confidence interval; RR: risk ratio; OR: odds ratio;

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High certainty: we are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect

Moderate certainty: we are moderately confident in the effect estimate: The true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different

Low certainty: our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: The true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect

Very low certainty: we have very little confidence in the effect estimate: The true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect

¹ Downgraded one level for risk of bias: most of the trials lacked methodological details

² Downgraded one level for imprecision: few participants, wide confidence intervals, which include meaningful benefit and harm

³ Downgraded two levelsfor serious imprecision: few participants, few events, wide confidence intervals, which include meaningful benefit and harm

4

.ibrary ochrane

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.



BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

Preterm infants are born with inadequate fat stores, due to their being born before the nutrient accretion and rapid growth phase of the third trimester of pregnancy (Robinson 2017). They also have higher nutrient requirements than term infants in the early postnatal period (Fenton 2013). Fat in human milk provides the major energy needs (45% to 55%) of the preterm infant and also contributes to several metabolic and physiological functions paramount to their growth, health, and development (Delplanque 2015). In particular, derivatives of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LCPUFA), arachidonic acid (AA), and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), play key roles in normal immune system functioning as well as brain and retinal development (Delplangue 2015; Hadley 2016; Lapillonne 2014). Thus, insufficient consumption of fat in the preterm infant may have adverse effects on their growth, immune development, neurologic function, and visual acuity (Georgieff 2005; Innis 2003).

Human milk, the preferred enteral nutrition for preterm infants, optimises immunity, visual acuity (Section on Breastfeeding 2012), gastrointestinal function, and neurodevelopmental outcomes in preterm infants (Isaacs 2009; Underwood 2013). In contrast to infant formula, it contains a full array of polyunsaturated fatty acids, including DHA and AA (Moon 2016).

However, in spite of its immense benefits, unsupplemented human milk is nutritionally inadequate for preterm infants for several reasons. Firstly, human milk has insufficient quantities of many nutrients needed for the rapid growth of preterm infants (Su 2014) and its nutrient concentrations fluctuate over time, with fat being the most variable nutrient (Patel 2016). It shows intra- and inter-individual variations (Bhatia 2016), and varies according to maternal diet, time of day, and during a breastfeeding session, with hind milk richer in fat than foremilk (Innis 2014).

Secondly, important reductions in fat concentrations of human milk have been reported during processes of storage, freezing, thawing, and pasteurisation, due to adherence of the disrupted fat globules to container surfaces (Chang 2012; Stocks 1985; Vieira 2011).

Further, breastfeeding initiation and continuation in mothers of preterm infants is not always feasible. Early preterm birth can hinder maternal breast development, delay secretory activation and potentially diminish milk production (Geddes 2013). While these limitations could result in a reliance on donor human milk from mothers who gave birth at term, pasteurisation of donor human milk may inactivate the two endogenous lipases of human milk (lipoprotein lipase and bile salt-stimulated lipase), thus decreasing lipid absorption and reduce weight gain (Arslanoglu 2013; Peila 2016). Medium-chain triglyceride (MCT) supplements are sometimes added to donor milk, as these do not require bile salts or pancreatic lipase for digestion and are more easily absorbed than LCPUFA (Kenner 2014). However, this does not provide the high requirements for LCPUFA to optimise brain and retinal development of preterm infants.

A limited supply of fat in preterm infants fed human milk may adversely affect their growth and development. Therefore,

additional fat in the form of a supplement may be added to human milk.

Description of the intervention

Enteral fat supplements are available as commercial modular products such as microlipids and medium-chain triglyceride (MCT) oils (Choi 2016; Yang 2013), a blend of more than one oil including high fat polyunsaturated fatty acid (HF-PUFA) (Younge 2017) or as multicomponent products like liquid human milk fortifiers (LHMF) (Berseth 2014). They are mixed with human milk and fed enterally to preterm infants once they begin to tolerate breast milk feeds (Berseth 2014). Some of these supplements can also be used via the parenteral route as lipid emulsions (Martin 2015).

Depending on the intended effect, some formulations may contain more than one source of fat supplements that may be combined into the same principal compartment or used together from different compartments. For example, enteral micro lipid and fish oil have recently been successfully combined as a mechanism to reduce intralipid use in a preterm infant with an enterostomy (Yang 2013). Thus, combining different sources of fat supplements may have important maintenance or therapeutic effects. However, the accumulation of certain fatty acids may inhibit the metabolism of others, and cause elevated lipid levels. For example, omega-3 and omega-6 lipids compete for the same desaturase enzyme. Thus, a balanced ratio between them is important (Hadley 2016).

How the intervention might work

Paradoxically, in spite of their high need for fat intake per kg body weight, preterm infants present unique challenges that interfere with the delivery of fat (Martin 2015). Preterm infants have low level of activity of pancreatic lipase and bile salt-stimulated lipase which are normally responsible for a substantial part of fat digestion, micelle formation, and fat absorption (Lindquist 2010). As a result, preterm infants may experience maldigestion and malabsorption of enteral fats, leading to potential intestinal inflammation and injury, loss of energy, and inadequate fat store accumulation (Howles 1999; Martin 2015). Human milk, unlike formula, contains bile salt-stimulated lipase which enhances the digestion and absorption of milk fat (Martin 2015). Therefore, fat supplementation of human milk is expected to increase fatty acid bioavailability and alleviate dietary deficiency of fat.

Additionally, the unique properties of the different formulations of fat supplements are expected to enhance therapeutic outcomes (Deshpande 2011). For example, MCTs, unlike long-chain fatty acids, do not require carnitine to enter the mitochondria and so are oxidised rapidly to ketone bodies, making them a quick and readily available source of energy (Longo 2016).

Furthermore, the chain length and saturation of fatty acids impact their absorption (Delplanque 2015). MCTs, whose hydrolysis is independent of the availability of bile and lipase, are more efficiently absorbed than long-chain fatty acids, making them useful for infants with impaired digestion and absorption of fat, including preterm infants (Martin 2015).

Finally, complications from fat supplementation can also occur. For example, in a study conducted in mice, MCT fortifiers were reported to promote allergic sensitisation and anaphylaxis (Li 2013), while formula supplemented with MCTs is associated with

Fat supplementation of human milk for promoting growth in preterm infants (Review) Copyright © 2020 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

higher osmolality and a higher risk of osmotic diarrhoea (Pereirada-Silva 2008).

Why it is important to do this review

Dietary fat is vital for energy, growth, and long-term health in preterm infants. However, the previous version of this review found no clear evidence of benefits or harms of fat supplementation of human milk in preterm infants (Kuschel 2000). Interest in fat supplementation of human milk has grown to include not just the digestibility of the fat supplement, but also its quality and role in the visual and neural development of the preterm infant (Koletzko 2014). Thus, it was important to update the review with the most recent trials assessing these effects, including those with LCPUFA supplements.

OBJECTIVES

To determine if supplementation of human milk with fat compared with unsupplemented human milk fed to preterm infants improves growth, body composition, cardio-metabolic and neurodevelopmental outcomes without significant adverse effects.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

Published and unpublished controlled trials utilising either random or quasi-random patient allocation were considered for inclusion in this review. Cross-over trials were excluded.

Types of participants

Preterm infants (< 37 weeks' gestation) receiving enteral feeding of human milk within a hospital setting.

Types of interventions

Human milk with or without additional fat supplementation. Micronutrient and vitamin supplements were allowed in both groups.

Types of outcome measures

The primary and secondary outcomes for this review were aligned with the outcomes of the Cochrane Review Multi-nutrient fortification of human milk for preterm infants (Brown 2016).

Primary outcomes

- Growth: weight, length, head circumference, skinfold thickness (WHO 1995), body mass index, and measures of body composition (lean/fat mass) and growth restriction (proportion of infants who remained < 10th percentile for the index population distribution of weight, length, or head circumference). Growth parameters were assessed from birth to hospital discharge, at or after two years' corrected age, during adolescence, and as adults.
- Neurodevelopmental outcomes: neurodevelopmental outcomes after 12 months post term included neurological evaluations, developmental scores, and classifications of disability, including auditory and visual disability. We defined neurodevelopmental impairment as the presence of one or more of the following: non-ambulant cerebral palsy,

developmental quotient more than two standard deviations below the population mean, blindness (visual acuity < 6/60) or deafness (any hearing impairment requiring or unimproved by amplification).

Secondary outcomes

- Duration of hospital admission (days);
- Feeding intolerance that resulted in cessation or reduction in enteral feeding;
- Necrotising enterocolitis (NEC);
- Diarrhoea;
- Serum bilirubin concentrations;
- Long-term measures of cardio-metabolic health such as insulin resistance, obesity, diabetes, and hypertension.

Search methods for identification of studies

We used the criteria and standard methods of Cochrane and Cochrane Neonatal (see the Cochrane Neonatal search strategy for specialised register).

Electronic searches

We conducted a comprehensive search including: Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL 2019, Issue 8) in the Cochrane Library and MEDLINE via PubMed (2018 to 23 August 2019). We have included the search strategies for each database in Appendix 1. We did not apply language restrictions.

We searched clinical trial registries for ongoing or recently completed trials (ISRCTN Registry). The World Health Organization's International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP) (www.who.int/ictrp/search/en/) and the U.S. National Library of Medicine's ClinicalTrials.gov (clinicaltrials.gov) were searched via Cochrane CENTRAL.

This search updates the searches conducted for previous versions of the review (Amissah 2018, Kuschel 2000).

Searching other resources

We also searched the reference lists of any articles selected for inclusion in this review in order to identify additional relevant articles. We did not search any additional conference proceedings.

Data collection and analysis

We used the guidelines and standardised methods of the Cochrane Neonatal Collaborative Review Group to assess the methodological quality of the included trials.

Selection of studies

We identified 907 records from the searches for this review. For the 2018 update, two authors (EA and JB) independently applied the eligibility criteria to the records identified by the searches. We resolved any disagreements arising through discussions. However, none of the new studies identified were relevant to this review.

For the 2020 update, Cochrane Neonatal screened the titles and abstracts identified by the search independently and in duplicate in consultation with a review author (JH).



Data extraction and management

No new trials were included in the review but, due to changes in our primary and secondary outcomes from the last published protocol (1997), two authors (EA and JB) independently extracted data from the previously included trial. We used a data extraction form which was developed prior to data gathering. Data such as source details, study eligibility, study design, participant characteristics, and intervention and control details were extracted. We planned to resolve conflicts in the data extraction and management process by referral to a third author. The data were then exported into Cochrane's statistical software, Review Manager 2014 (Review Manager 2014).

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

Two review authors (EA and JB) independently assessed the risk of bias (low, high, or unclear) of the included trials using the Cochrane 'Risk of bias' tool (Higgins 2017) for the following domains:

- Sequence generation (selection bias)
- Allocation concealment (selection bias)
- Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias)
- Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias)
- Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias)
- Selective reporting (reporting bias)
- Any other bias

Any disagreements were resolved by discussion or by a third assessor. See Appendix 2 for a more detailed description of risk of bias for each domain.

Measures of treatment effect

We used the numbers of events in the control and intervention groups of the study to calculate the risk ratio (RR) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for dichotomous data. We calculated mean differences (MDs) between treatment groups where outcomes were measured in the same way for continuous data. We did not need to use standardised mean differences (SMD) in this update, although we planned to use it where outcomes from trials were the same but different methods had been used to collect the data. We reported 95% CIs for all outcomes. We did not calculate numbers needed to treat for an additional beneficial outcome (NNTBs) or the numbers needed to treat for and additional harmful outcome (NNTHs) due to insufficient data.

Unit of analysis issues

We did not identify any unit of analysis issues. We planned to undertake analysis at the individual level taking clustering into account as recommended in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* if we had identified cluster-randomised trials (Higgins 2017).

Dealing with missing data

We noted levels of attrition. We carried out analyses using an intention-to-treat basis, where possible, for all of the outcomes. We analysed all participants, where possible, in the treatment group to which they were randomised, regardless of the actual treatment received. As we had only one included trial, we were unable to conduct sensitivity analyses and were unable to address the potential impact of missing data on the findings of the review.

Assessment of heterogeneity

We planned to assess whether the clinical and methodological characteristics of the included studies were sufficiently similar for meta-analysis to provide a clinically meaningful summary. We planned to do this by assessing statistical heterogeneity using the Chi² test and the l² statistic. An l² measurement greater than 50% and a low P value (< 0.10) in the Chi² test for heterogeneity was taken to indicate moderate-to-high heterogeneity. Where substantial heterogeneity was detected, we planned to explore possible explanations in sensitivity or subgroup analyses, or both. We planned to take statistical heterogeneity into account when interpreting the results, especially if there was any variation in the direction of effect. We were unable to perform any of these assessments as we included only one trial.

Assessment of reporting biases

Reporting biases arise when the dissemination of research findings is influenced by the nature and direction of results. Some types of reporting bias (e.g. publication bias, multiple publication bias, language bias) reduce the likelihood that all studies eligible for a review will be retrieved. If all eligible studies are not retrieved, the review may be biased.

We aimed to conduct a comprehensive search for eligible studies and were alert for duplication of data. We were unable to assess publication bias through the creation of funnel plots as there were insufficient studies for any of the outcomes (10 or more trials required).

Data synthesis

Quality of evidence

We used the GRADE approach, as outlined in the GRADE Handbook (Schünemann 2013), to assess the quality of evidence for the following (clinically relevant) outcomes: growth, neurodevelopment, duration of hospital admission, feeding intolerance that results in cessation or reduction in enteral feeding, and necrotising enterocolitis.

Two authors (EA and JB) independently assessed the quality of the evidence for each of the outcomes above. We considered evidence from randomised controlled trials as high-quality but downgraded the evidence one level for serious (or two levels for very serious) limitations based upon the following: design (risk of bias), consistency across studies, directness of the evidence, precision of estimates, and presence of publication bias. We used the GRADEpro GDT Guideline Development Tool to create a 'Summary of findings' table to report the quality of the evidence.

The GRADE approach results in an assessment of the quality of a body of evidence in one of four levels:

- High: we are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect.
- Moderate: we are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different.
- Low: our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: the true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect.



Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

cochrane

Librarv

We planned to perform subgroup and sensitivity analyses if moderate-to-high heterogeneity was identified. We planned to consider whether an overall summary was meaningful and if it was, we planned to use a random-effects model to analyse it. We planned to carry out the following subgroup analyses to evaluate differences in outcome between: gestational age subgroups (< 30 versus 30 to < 34 versus 34 to < 37 completed weeks), birth weight subgroups (< 1 kg versus \geq 1 kg), male versus female sex; and types of fat supplements (MCT versus other forms). However, there were insufficient data to allow us to conduct any subgroup analyses.

Sensitivity analysis

We planned to conduct sensitivity analysis by examining only those trials considered to have a low risk of bias for allocation concealment and randomisation. We were unable to do this as only one trial was included in the review.

RESULTS

Description of studies

Regarding study details please see: Included studies; Excluded studies.

Results of the search

A search of 1368 records yielded no new trials. However, one trial from the previous review (published in 1999) was included in the 2018 update of this review (Polberger 1989). For a full description of our searches, please see 'Study flow diagram' (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Study flow diagram: review update





Data were extracted from a full-text publication for the only trial included in this review (Polberger 1989). This four-armed randomised controlled trial included 28 randomised preterm infants, of whom 14 fulfilled our predefined criteria. The trial was conducted at two centres in Sweden and was published in English. Details of the included trial are summarised in the table Characteristics of included studies.

Participants

The trial examined preterm infants < 32 gestational weeks and of birth weight < 1500 grams. The infants had no medical problems or major congenital malformations.

Interventions

Standardised rather than targeted fortification was used and infants were randomised to receive either fat (1 gram human milk fat per 100 mL of human milk) or no supplementation. Two other arms of the study evaluated supplementation with protein alone and protein combined with fat, and were excluded from this review. The intervention was commenced once the infants were tolerating enteral feeds at 170 mL/kg/day and was stopped when the infants were breastfed or weighed 2200 grams. Both maternal and donor breast milk were used and supplemental vitamins and minerals (calcium and phosphate) were given to infants in the intervention group.

Comparators

The control group received human milk supplemented with vitamins and minerals (calcium and phosphate).

Outcomes

The trial reported data for our predefined short-term growth outcomes but no data was reported on long-term growth, body mass index (BMI), body composition, neurodevelopmental, and cardio-metabolic outcomes. Of all our secondary outcomes, data were available only for feeding intolerance. Additional data were provided for weight at study end.

Excluded studies

We excluded five full-text articles (three trials) from this 2018 update. Two trials used interventions that did not meet our predefined criteria (Fewtrell 2011; Makrides 1997), while the other provided data that were not usable Rönnholm 1984. Infants in this latter trial were randomised by alternate allocation to no supplementation, supplementation with protein, supplementation with fat (medium-chain triglyceride, MCT), or supplementation with both protein and fat. The authors stated that there was no apparent effect from the addition of fat alone and, therefore, combined the groups according to protein supplementation. It was impossible to extract data for the group of infants receiving only fat. See Characteristics of excluded studies for details of exclusions.

Risk of bias in included studies

Overall, we scored all items as unclear risk of bias as there was insufficient methodological detail to make a judgement. See Characteristics of included studies and the 'risk of bias' graph and summary (Figure 2; Figure 3) for details.

Figure 2. Risk of bias graph: review authors' judgements about each risk of bias item presented as percentages across all included studies.





Figure 3.	Risk of bias summary	review authors'	judgements about eac	ch risk of bias item for (each included study.
-----------	----------------------	-----------------	----------------------	----------------------------	----------------------

nes

Polberger 1989	
?	Random sequence generation (selection bias)
?	Allocation concealment (selection bias)
?	Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias): All outco
?	Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias): All outcomes
?	Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias): All outcomes
?	Selective reporting (reporting bias)
?	Other bias
	New Item

Allocation

Incomplete outcome data

We judged random sequence generation and allocation concealment as unclear risk due to insufficient methodological details.

Blinding

We judged performance and detection bias as unclear risk because of lack of information on how blinding was achieved.

We judged attrition bias as unclear risk because the authors did not report if any differences existed between infants excluded and included in the study. The feeding groups of the excluded infants were also not clarified.

Selective reporting

We judged reporting bias as unclear risk because no details were given as to which were primary and secondary outcomes. We did

not view the protocol to ascertain whether the outcomes reported were the only ones collected.

Other potential sources of bias

We judged other potential sources of bias as unclear risk because no details were provided on how the authors resolved differences in sex distribution between the supplemented and unsupplemented groups.

Effects of interventions

See: **Summary of findings 1** Fat supplementation compared to control for promoting growth in preterm infants

1.0 Fat supplementation versus control

1.1 Growth - weight

1.1.1 Weight gain

One randomised controlled trial including 14 infants contributed data (Polberger 1989). Fat supplementation of human milk was not associated with an increase in weight gain compared with unsupplemented human milk (MD 0.6 g/kg/day, 95% CI -2.4 to 3.6; 1 RCT, n = 14 infants, very low-quality evidence). We downgraded the evidence for risk of bias as there was insufficient methodological information provided to be able to make a judgement. We also downgraded the evidence two levels for imprecision due to the very small sample size and wide confidence intervals spanning across benefits and harms.

1.1.2 Weight at the end of the study

Polberger 1989 reported the weight at the end of the study which was defined as a weight of 2200 grams or when breastfeeding was initiated. There was evidence of a clear difference in weight between the fat-supplemented and the unsupplemented groups (MD 40.0 g, 95% CI –258.6 to 338.6; 1 RCT, n = 14).

1.2 Growth - length

1.2.1 Length gain

Polberger 1989 contributed data. There was no evidence of a clear difference in length between the fat-supplemented and the unsupplemented groups (MD 0.1 cm/week, 95% CI -0.08 to 0.3; 1 RCT, n = 14, very low-quality evidence). We downgraded the evidence for risk of bias as there was insufficient methodological information provided to be able to make a judgement. We also downgraded the evidence two levels for imprecision due to the very small sample size and wide confidence intervals spanning across benefits and harms.

1.3 Growth - head circumference

1.3.1 Head circumference gain

Polberger 1989 contributed data. There was evidence of a clear difference in head growth between the fat-supplemented and the unsupplemented groups (MD 0.2 cm/week, 95% CI –0.07 to 0.4; 1 RCT, n = 14, very low-quality evidence). We downgraded the evidence for risk of bias as there was insufficient methodological information provided to be able to make a judgement. We also downgraded the evidence two levels for imprecision due to the very small sample size and wide confidence intervals spanning across benefits and harms.

1.4 Feeding intolerance

Polberger 1989 contributed data. There was no clear evidence that fat supplementation increased the risk of feeding intolerance (RR 3.0, 95% CI 0.1 to 64.3;1 RCT, n = 16 infants, very low-quality evidence). We downgraded the evidence for risk of bias as there was insufficient methodological information to make a judgement. We also downgraded two levels for imprecision due to the very small sample size, few events and wide confidence intervals.

The study did not evaluate any of our other prespecified primary or secondary outcomes including long-term growth, BMI, body composition, neurodevelopmental and cardio-metabolic outcomes.

We were unable to conduct our prespecified subgroup analysis due to insufficient data.

DISCUSSION

Summary of main results

One randomised controlled trial involving 14 preterm infants showed no evidence of an effect of fat supplementation of human milk on in-hospital rates of growth in weight, length, and head circumference. There was no clear evidence of a difference in the risk of feeding intolerance between the fat-supplemented and unsupplemented groups. No data were available for the assessment of the effects of fat supplementation on long-term growth outcomes, BMI, body composition, neurodevelopmental, and cardio-metabolic outcomes. There were limited data to assess adverse effects.

Overall completeness and applicability of evidence

The only trial included in this review had a very small sample size with methodological flaws that put it at unclear risk of bias in all the 'Risk of bias' domains (Figure 2; Figure 3). The available data were limited and incomplete as some of our outcomes of interest, including long-term growth, BMI, body composition, neurodevelopmental and cardio-metabolic outcomes, were not evaluated. Therefore, no conclusions can be drawn on the effects of fat supplementation of human milk fed to preterm infants. Additionally, for the same reasons, no conclusions can be drawn on the applicability of the evidence.

Quality of the evidence

The overall quality of evidence for all our reported outcomes was judged to be of very low-quality due to a combination of several factors. Firstly, the authors failed to report essential methodological details, including method of randomisation, blinding of study personnel, and outcome assessors. Without such information, it is difficult to adequately judge the risk of bias and quality of evidence. Secondly, the small sample size, few events, and wide confidence intervals, which included possible meaningful benefits and harms, diminished our confidence in the effect estimates.

Potential biases in the review process

We were unable to create funnel plots to assess the potential risk of publication or reporting bias as we had only one trial included in this review. We made every effort to minimise bias by conducting a systematic search of the literature. However, the

possibility of missing relevant evidence cannot be excluded. The authors' independent screening of articles and extraction of data in this review also minimised the potential for bias.

Agreements and disagreements with other studies or reviews

To our knowledge, there are no other previous systematic reviews conducted on this topic except for our previous review which included the same single randomised controlled trial published in 2000 and involving 14 preterm infants (Kuschel 2000). We reported similar findings of lack of clear differences between the fat-supplemented and unsupplemented groups with regards to short-term rates of weight gain, length gain, head growth, and feeding intolerance.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

The lack of high-quality evidence on the effects of fat supplementation of human milk in preterm infants prevents us from making recommendations for practice.

Implications for research

Given the progression to widespread use of multi-nutrient supplementation of human milk in preterm infants, we consider that further randomised trials evaluating short- and long-term growth and health outcomes in preterm infants supplemented with fat will do so in the context of multi-component fortifiers. Future trials with large sample sizes should focus on optimal dosage, delivery options, and adverse effects such as feed intolerance, necrotising enterocolitis, and diarrhoea.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Emma Amissah was supported by a doctoral scholarship from the University of Auckland.

Julie Brown was supported by a grant from the Health Research Council of New Zealand.

We acknowledge the support of Caroline A Crowther in preparing this review, and the work of Carl A Kuschel as lead author of the original review (Kuschel 2000).

We would like to thank Fiona Stewart, Cochrane Children and Families Network, for assistance in screening searches.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Polberger 1989 {published data only}

* Polberger SK, Axelsson IA, Räihä NC. Growth of very low birth weight infants on varying amounts of human milk protein. *Pediatric Research* 1989;**25**(4):414-9. [DOI: 10.1203/00006450-198904000-00022] [PMID: 2726319]

Polberger SK, Axelsson IE, Räihä NC. Amino acid concentrations in plasma and urine in very low birth weight infants fed proteinunenriched or human milk protein-enriched human milk. *Pediatrics* 1990;**86**(6):909-15. [PMID: 2251029]

Polberger SK, Fex GA, Axelsson IE, Räihä NC. Eleven plasma proteins as indicators of protein nutritional status in very low birth weight infants. *Pediatrics* 1990;**86**(6):916-21. [PMID: 2251030]

References to studies excluded from this review

Fewtrell 2011 {published data only}

Fewtrell MS. Does early nutrition program later bone health in preterm infants? *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2011;**94**(6 Suppl):1870S-3S. [DOI: 10.3945/ajcn.110.000844] [PMID: 21543543]

Lauterbach 2015 {published data only}

Lauterbach R. A supplementation of DHA and AA to human milkfed VLBW infants has no significant cognitive improvement or measurable neuroanatomical effects when evaluated at 8 years of age. *Evidence-based Medicine* 2015;**20**(5):177. [DOI: 10.1136/ ebmed-2015-110242] [PMID: 26282164]

Makrides 1997 {published data only}

Makrides M, Neumann M, Gibson R. Breast milk docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and Infant outcomes: a randomised clinical trial. *Journal of Pediatrics and Child Health* 1997;**33**(4):A2.

Rönnholm 1984 {published data only}

Rönnholm KA, Perheentupa J, Siimes MA. Supplementation with human milk protein improves growth of small premature infants fed human milk. *Pediatrics* 1986;**77**(5):649-53. [PMID: 3703632]

* Rönnholm KA, Simell O, Siimes MA. Human milk protein and medium-chain triglyceride oil supplementation of human milk: plasma amino acids in very low-birth-weight infants. *Pediatrics* 1984;**74**(5):792-9. [PMID: 6387613]

Additional references

Arslanoglu 2013

Arslanoglu S, Corpeleijn W, Moro G, Braegger C, Campoy C, Colomb V, et al, ESPGHAN Committee on Nutrition. Donor human milk for preterm infants: current evidence and research directions. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 2013;**57**(4):535-42. [DOI: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e3182a3af0a] [PMID: 24084373]

Berseth 2014

Berseth CL, Harris CL, Wampler JL, Hoffman DR, Diersen-Schade DA. Liquid human milk fortifier significantly improves docosahexaenoic and arachidonic acid status in preterm infants. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes, and Essential Fatty Acids* 2014;**91**(3):97-103. [DOI: 10.1016/j.plefa.2014.03.002] [PMID: 24863250]

Bhatia 2016

Bhatia J. Human milk for preterm infants and fortification. *Nestle Nutrition Workshop Series* 2016;**86**:109-19. [DOI: 10.1159/000442730] [PMID: 27347886]

Brown 2016

Brown JV, Embleton ND, Harding JE, McGuire W. Multinutrient fortification of human milk for preterm infants. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016, Issue 5. Art. No: CD000343. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000343.pub3]

Brown 2020

Brown JV, Lin L, Embleton ND, Harding JE, McGuire W. Multinutrient fortification of human milk for preterm infants. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 6. Art. No: CD000343. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000343.pub4]

Chang 2012

Chang YC, Chen CH, Lin MC. The macro-nutrients in human milk change after storage in various containers. *Pediatrics and Neonatology* 2012;**53**(3):205-9.

Choi 2016

Choi A, Fusch G, Rochow N, Fusch C. Target fortification of breast milk: predicting the final osmolality of the feeds. *PLOS One* 2016;**11**(2):e0148941. [DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0148941] [PMID: 26863130]

Delplanque 2015

Delplanque B, Gibson R, Koletzko B, Lapillonne A, Strandvik B. Lipid quality in infant nutrition: current knowledge and future opportunities. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 2015;**61**(1):8-17. [DOI: 10.1097/ MPG.000000000000818] [PMID: 25883056]

Deshpande 2011

Deshpande G, Simmer K. Lipids for parenteral nutrition in neonates. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care* 2011;**14**(2):145-50. [DOI: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e3283434562] [PMID: 21192257]

Fenton 2013

Fenton TR, Nasser R, Eliasziw M, Kim JH, Bilan D, Sauve R. Validating the weight gain of preterm infants between the reference growth curve of the fetus and the term infant. *BMC Pediatrics* 2013;**13**:92. [DOI: 10.1186/1471-2431-13-92] [PMID: 23758808]

Geddes 2013

Geddes D, Hartmann P, Jones E. Preterm birth: strategies for establishing adequate milk production and successful lactation.



Seminars in Fetal & Neonatal Medicine 2013;**18**(3):155-9. [DOI: 10.1016/j.siny.2013.04.001] [PMID: 23623976]

Georgieff 2005

Georgieff MK, Innis SM. Controversial nutrients that potentially affect preterm neurodevelopment: essential fatty acids and iron. *Pediatric Research* 2005;**57**(5 Pt 2):99R-103R. [DOI: 10.1203/01.PDR.0000160542.69840.0F] [PMID: 15817493]

GRADEpro GDT [Computer program]

McMaster University (developed by Evidence Prime) GRADEpro GDT. Version accessed 01 September 2017. Hamilton (ON): McMaster University (developed by Evidence Prime), 2015. Available at gradepro.org.

Hadley 2016

Hadley KB, Ryan AS, Forsyth S, Gautier S, Salem N. The essentiality of arachidonic acid in infant development. *Nutrients* 2016;**8**(4):216. [DOI: 10.3390/nu8040216] [PMID: 27077882]

Higgins 2017

Higgins JP, Green S, (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.2.0 (updated June 2017). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2017. Available from training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Howles 1999

Howles PN, Stemmerman GN, Fenoglio-Preiser CM, Hui DY. Carboxyl ester lipase activity in milk prevents fat-derived intestinal injury in neonatal mice. *American Journal of Physiology* 1999;**277**(3 Pt 1):G653-61. [PMID: 10484391]

Innis 2003

Innis SM. Perinatal biochemistry and physiology of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Journal of Pediatrics* 2003;**143**(4 Suppl):S1-8. [PMID: 14597908]

Innis 2014

Innis SM. Impact of maternal diet on human milk composition and neurological development of infants. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2014;**99**(3):734S-41S. [DOI: 10.3945/ ajcn.113.072595] [PMID: 24500153]

Isaacs 2009

Isaacs EB, Morley R, Lucas A. Early diet and general cognitive outcome at adolescence in children born at or below 30 weeks gestation. *Journal of Pediatrics* 2009;**155**(2):229-34. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.02.030] [PMID: 19446846]

Kenner 2014

Kenner C, Lott J, editor(s). Comprehensive Neonatal Nursing Care. 5th edition. New York (NY): Springer Publishing Company, 2014.

Koletzko 2014

Koletzko B, Poindexter B, Uauy R, editor(s). Defining the Nutritional Needs of Preterm Infants: Scientific Basis and Practical Guidelines. Vol. **110**. Karger Publishers, 2014.

Kuschel 2000

Kuschel CA, Harding JE. Protein supplementation of human milk for promoting growth in preterm infants. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2000, Issue 2. Art. No: CD000433. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000433]

Lapillonne 2014

Lapillonne A. Enteral and parenteral lipid requirements of preterm infants. *World Review of Nutrition and Dietetics* 2014;**110**:82-98. [DOI: 10.1159/000358460] [PMID: 24751623]

Li 2013

Li J, Wang Y, Tang L, De Villiers WJ, Cohen D, Woodward J, et al. Dietary medium-chain triglycerides promote oral allergic sensitization and orally induced anaphylaxis to peanut protein in mice. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 2013;**131**(2):442-50. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.10.011] [PMID: 23182172]

Lindquist 2010

Lindquist S, Hernell O. Lipid digestion and absorption in early life: an update. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care* 2010;**13**(3):314-20. [DOI: 10.1097/ MCO.0b013e328337bbf0] [PMID: 20179589]

Longo 2016

Longo N, Frigeni M, Pasquali M. Carnitine transport and fatty acid oxidation. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 2016;**1863**(10):2422-35. [DOI: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2016.01.023] [PMID: 26828774]

Martin 2015

Martin CR. Lipids and fatty acids in the preterm infant, part 2: clinical considerations. *NeoReviews* 2015;**16**(3):e169-80.

Moon 2016

Moon K, Rao SC, Schulzke SM, Patole SK, Simmer K. Longchain polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation in preterm infants. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016, Issue 12. Art. No: CD000375. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000375.pub5]

Patel 2016

Patel P, Bhatia J. Human milk: the preferred first food for premature infants. *Journal of Human Nutrition & Food Science* 2016;**4**(5):1098.

Peila 2016

Peila C, Moro GE, Bertino E, Cavallarin L, Giribaldi M, Giuliani F, et al. The effect of holder pasteurization on nutrients and biologically-active components in donor human milk: a review. *Nutrients* 2016;**8**(8):E477. [DOI: 10.3390/nu8080477] [PMID: 27490567]

Pereira-da-Silva 2008

Pereira-da-Silva L, Dias MP, Virella D, Moreira AC, Serelha M. Osmolality of preterm formulas supplemented with nonprotein energy supplements. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2008;**62**(2):274-8. [DOI: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1602736] [PMID: 17375112]



Review Manager 2014 [Computer program]

Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration Review Manager 5 (RevMan 5). Version 5.3. Copenhagen: Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014.

Robinson 2017

Robinson DT, Martin CR. Fatty acid requirements for the preterm infant. *Seminars in Fetal & Neonatal Medicine* 2017;**22**(1):8-14. [DOI: 10.1016/j.siny.2016.08.009] [PMID: 27599697]

Schünemann 2013

Schünemann H, Brożek J, Guyatt G, Oxman A, editor(s), GRADE Working Group. Handbook for grading the quality of evidence and the strength of recommendations using the GRADE approach (updated October 2013). gdt.guidelinedevelopment.org/app/handbook/handbook.html (accessed prior to 22 May 2018).

Section on Breastfeeding 2012

Section on Breastfeeding. Breastfeeding and the use of human milk. *Pediatrics* 2012;**129**(3):e827-41. [DOI: 10.1542/peds.2011-3552] [PMID: 22371471]

Stocks 1985

Stocks RJ, Davies DP, Allen F, Sewell D. Loss of breast milk nutrients during tube feeding. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 1985;**60**(2):164-6. [PMID: 3919654]

Su 2014

Su B. Optimizing nutrition in preterm infants. *Pediatrics and Neonatology* 2014;**55**(1):5-13. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.pedneo.2013.07.003] [PMID: 24050843]

Underwood 2013

Underwood MA. Human milk for the premature infant. *Pediatric Clinics of North America* 2013;**60**(1):189-207. [DOI: 10.1016/j.pcl.2012.09.008] [PMID: 23178065]

Vieira 2011

Polberger 1989

Vieira AA, Soares FV, Pimenta HP, Abranches AD, Moreira ME. Analysis of the influence of pasteurization, freezing/thawing,

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

and offer processes on human milk's macronutrient concentrations. *Early Human Development* 2011;**87**(8):577-80. [DOI: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2011.04.016] [PMID: 21592688]

WHO 1995

World Health Organization. Physical status: The use of and interpretation of anthropometry: report of a WHO expert committee. www.who.int/nutrition/publications/ growth_physical_status/en/ (accessed prior to 22 March 2018).

Yang 2013

Yang Q, Ayers K, Chen Y, Helderman J, Welch CD, O'Shea TM. Early enteral fat supplement and fish oil increases fat absorption in the premature infant with an enterostomy. *Journal of Pediatrics* 2013;**163**(2):429-34. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.jpeds.2013.01.056] [NCT01306838] [PMID: 23453547]

Younge 2017

Younge N, Yang Q, Seed PC. Enteral high fat-polyunsaturated fatty acid blend alters the pathogen composition of the intestinal microbiome in premature infants with an enterostomy. *Journal of Pediatrics* 2017;**181**:93-101.e6. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.10.053] [NCT01306838] [PMID: 27856001]

References to other published versions of this review

Amissah 2018

Amissah EA, Brown J, Harding JE. Fat supplementation of human milk for promoting growth in preterm infants. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2018, Issue 6. Art. No: CD000341. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000341.pub2]

Kuschel 2000

Kuschel CA, Harding JE. Fat supplementation of human milk for promoting growth in preterm infants. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2000, Issue 2. Art. No: CD000341. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000341]

* Indicates the major publication for the study

Study characteristics	
Methods	Parallel randomised controlled trial in two neonatal units.
Participants	Inclusion criteria: birth weight < 1500 g, appropriate-for-gestational-age, tolerance of complete enter- al feeding (170 mL/kg/day), no obvious disease or major malformations, no oxygen therapy, and in- formed parental consent and acceptance of a blind trial Exclusion criteria: not stated Setting: two neonatal units of the University of Lund in Malmo and Lund Timing: not stated

Polberger 1989 (Continued)	
Interventions	1.0 g of human milk fat per 100 mL unpasteurised human milk (maternal or term banked donor) (n = 7) versus unsupplemented human milk (n = 7). Intervention ceased when the infant reached approximately 2200 g or was breastfed. All infants were supplemented with additional vitamins, calcium lactate (30 mg/kg/day) and sodium phosphate (20 mg/kg/day). From 4 weeks, 2 mg/kg/day elemental iron was given to all infants.
Outcomes	The outcomes were not specified as primary or secondary but the following were assessed: short-term growth parameters (weight, crown-heel length, occipito-frontal head circumference), intake of protein, fat, carbohydrates, energy, and electrolytes (sodium, potassium, calcium).
Notes	Conflicts of interest: no details Source of Funding: supported in part by the Swedish Medical Research Council, Grant No. B85- I'IX-06259, and Stiftelsen Saniarite This study had four arms: unsupplemented versus supplemented with protein versus supplemented with fat versus supplemented with fat and protein. The analyses of the protein and combined fat and protein arms are discussed in other reviews on multi-component and protein supplementation, respec- tively (Brown 2016; Kuschel 2000). Of the 34 infants enrolled in the study, 6 were withdrawn following randomisation for apnoea (n = 2), in- tolerance to accepting the fixed volume (n = 3) and need for intravenous therapy (n = 1).
	toterance to accepting the fixed volume $(n - 3)$ and need for intravenous therapy $(n = 1)$.

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence genera- tion (selection bias)	Unclear risk	No details
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	The study used closed envelopes without specifying if they were opaque or not.
Blinding of participants and personnel (perfor- mance bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	The study was stated to be double-blinded, but who was blinded was not spec- ified
Blinding of outcome as- sessment (detection bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	It was not specified whether outcome assessors were blinded.
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) All outcomes	Unclear risk	The missing data (i.e. from 6 infants) was less than 20%. They were excluded for the following reasons: 2 had apnoea, 3 developed feeding intolerance, and 1 needed intravenous therapy. However, the authors did not report whether there were any differences between infants excluded and included in the study.
Selective reporting (re- porting bias)	Unclear risk	No details were given as to which were primary and secondary outcomes, and no protocol was viewed to clarify whether the outcomes reported were the on- ly ones collected.
Other bias	Unclear risk	The authors stated 'there was a difference in sex distribution between the groups and later analyses confirmed that this difference had no implications on the results'. However, no further details were provided as to how this conclusion was reached.



Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Fewtrell 2011	Irrelevant intervention
Lauterbach 2015	A commentary of a trial with irrelevant intervention
Makrides 1997	Fat supplementation of maternal diet of lactating mothers
Rönnholm 1984	Unable to extract data for infants supplemented with fat alone

DATA AND ANALYSES

Comparison 1. Fat supplementation vs control

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1.1 Growth - weight	1		Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.1.1 Weight gain (g/kg/day)	1	14	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.60 [-2.36, 3.56]
1.1.2 Weight at end of study (g)	1	14	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	40.00 [-258.62, 338.62]
1.2 Growth - length	1		Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.2.1 Length gain (cm/week)	1	14	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.10 [-0.08, 0.28]
1.3 Growth - head circum- ference	1		Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only
1.3.1 Head growth (cm/ week)	1	14	Mean Difference (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	0.15 [-0.07, 0.37]
1.4 Feeding intolerance	1		Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI)	Subtotals only



Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1: Fat supplementation vs control, Outcome 1: Growth - weight

	F	at suppl		τ	Unsuppl			Mean Difference	Mean Dif	ference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Fixed, 95% CI	IV, Fixed,	95% CI
1.1.1 Weight gain (g/kg	/day)									
Polberger 1989	15.9	2.4	7	15.3	3.2	7	100.0%	0.60 [-2.36 , 3.56]	.	
Subtotal (95% CI)			7			7	100.0%	0.60 [-2.36 , 3.56]	•	•
Heterogeneity: Not appli	icable									
Test for overall effect: Z	= 0.40 (P =	0.69)								
1.1.2 Weight at end of s	study (g)									
Polberger 1989	2110	200	7	2070	350	7	100.0%	40.00 [-258.62 , 338.62]	€	■→
Subtotal (95% CI)			7			7	100.0%	40.00 [-258.62 , 338.62]		
Heterogeneity: Not appli	icable									
Test for overall effect: Z	= 0.26 (P =	0.79)								
									-50 -25 0 Favours unsuppl	25 50 Favours fat suppl

Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1: Fat supplementation vs control, Outcome 2: Growth - length

	Fat suppl			Unsuppl				Mean Difference	Mean Difference	
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Fixed, 95% CI	IV, Fixed,	95% CI
1.2.1 Length gain (cm/v	veek)									
Polberger 1989	0.93	0.17	7	0.83	0.17	7	100.0%	0.10 [-0.08 , 0.28]		
Subtotal (95% CI)			7			7	100.0%	0.10 [-0.08 , 0.28]		
Heterogeneity: Not appli	cable									
Test for overall effect: Z	= 1.10 (P = 0).27)								
									-0.2 -0.1 0 Favours unsuppl	0.1 0.2 Favours fat suppl

Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1: Fat supplementation vs control, Outcome 3: Growth - head circumference

Study or Subgroup	F Mean	at suppl SD	Total	Mean	Unsuppl SD	Total	Weight	Mean Difference IV, Fixed, 95% CI	Mean Dif IV, Fixed,	fference 95% CI
1.3.1 Head growth (cm	/week)									
Polberger 1989	1.09	0.16	7	0.94	0.25	7	100.0%	0.15 [-0.07 , 0.37]		
Subtotal (95% CI)			7			7	100.0%	0.15 [-0.07 , 0.37]		
Heterogeneity: Not appl	icable									
Test for overall effect: Z	= 1.34 (P =	0.18)								
									-0.2 -0.1 0 Favours unsuppl	0.1 0.2 Favours fat suppl

Analysis 1.4. Comparison 1: Fat supplementation vs control, Outcome 4: Feeding intolerance

	Fat su	ıppl	Unsu	ppl	Risk Ratio	Risk	Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI	M-H, Fixe	d, 95% CI
Polberger 1989 (1)	1	8	0	8	3 3.00 [0.14 , 64.26]		
Test for subgroup differe	nces: Not aj	pplicable				0.01 0.1 1 Favours fat suppl	10 100 Favours unsuppl

Footnotes

(1) These figures are from the previous review published in 1999 after consultations with the authors of the publication.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Search methods 2020 update

MEDLINE via PubMed:

1	lipids[MeSH] OR Fatty Acids, Omega-3[MeSH] OR Fish Oils [MeSH]
2	fat[tiab] OR lipid*[tiab] OR "medium chain triglycerides"[tiab] OR MCT[tiab] OR microlipid[tiab] OR "Arachidonic Acid"[tiab] OR "Docosahexaenoic acid"[tiab] OR "Omega-3 Fatty acids"[tiab] OR "Omega-6 fatty acids"[tiab] OR "N-3 Fatty Acid"[tiab] OR "N-6 Fatty Acid" OR LCPUFA OR linolenate
3	(Fish[tiab] OR "Cod Liver"[tiab] OR corn[tiab] OR safflower[tiab] OR soy[tiab] OR coconut[tiab]) AND Oil*[tiab]
4	(PUFA[tiab] OR Fatty Acid*[tiab]) OR (Polyunsaturated[tiab] AND n-3[tiab])
5	(alpha-Linolenic OR Docosahexaenoic OR Docosahexenoic OR Docosahexaenoate OR Eicosapen- taenoic OR Eicosapentanoic OR Timnodonic OR Icosapentaenoic OR Fatty Omega-3) AND Acid*
6	1 OR 2 OR 3 OR 4 OR 5
7	Milk, Human[MeSH]
8	breastmilk*[tiab]
9	((human[tiab] OR breast[tiab] OR expressed[tiab] OR mother*[tiab] OR maternal[tiab] OR donor*[tiab]) AND milk*[tiab])
10	7 OR 8 OR 9
11	((infant, newborn[MeSH] OR newborn OR neonate OR neonatal OR premature OR low birth weight OR VLBW OR LBW or infan* or neonat*) AND (randomized controlled trial [pt] OR controlled clinical trial [pt] OR randomized [tiab] OR placebo [tiab] OR drug therapy [sh] OR randomly [tiab] OR trial [tiab] OR groups [tiab]) NOT (animals [mh] NOT humans [mh]))
12	6 AND 10 AND 11

Cochrane Library:



1	MESH DESCRIPTOR Fish Oils EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET
2	MESH DESCRIPTOR Fatty Acids, Omega-3 EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET
3	MESH DESCRIPTOR Fatty Acids, Omega-6 EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET
4	MESH DESCRIPTOR Eicosanoic Acids EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET
5	MESH DESCRIPTOR Docosahexaenoic Acids EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET
6	MESH DESCRIPTOR Linoleic Acid EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET
7	(fat or lipid* or 'medium chain triglycerides' or MCT or microlipid or LCPUFA or linolenate) : TI,AB AND CENTRAL:TARGET
8	((Fish or 'Cod Liver' or corn or safflower or soy or coconut) NEXT Oil*) :TI,AB,KW AND CENTRAL:TAR- GET
9	(('alpha linolenic' or arachidonic or docosahexaenoic or docosahexenoic or docosahexaenoate or eicosapentaenoic or eicosapentanoic or timnodonic or icosapentaenoic or 'fatty omega-3' or 'Omega-3 Fatty' or 'Omega-6 fatty'or 'N-3 Fatty' or 'N-6 Fatty') NEXT acid*):TI,AB,KW AND CEN- TRAL:TARGET
10	((PUFA or Fatty Acid* or Polyunsaturated) NEXT n-3):TI,AB,KW AND CENTRAL:TARGET
11	#1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 OR #6 OR #7 OR #8 OR #9 OR #10
12	MESH DESCRIPTOR Milk, Human EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET
13	((human OR breast OR expressed) NEAR2 milk*):TI,AB,KW AND CENTRAL:TARGET
14	((mother* or maternal or donor*) NEAR2 milk*): TI,AB,KW AND CENTRAL:TARGET
15	#12 OR #13 OR #14
16	(infan* or newborn or neonat* or premature or preterm or very low birth weight or low birth weight or VLBW or LBW) AND CENTRAL:TARGET
17	#11 AND #15 AND #16

Appendix 2. Risk of bias tool

1. Sequence generation (checking for possible selection bias). Was the allocation sequence adequately generated?

For each included study, we categorised the method used to generate the allocation sequence as:

- low risk (any truly random process e.g. random number table; computer random number generator);
- high risk (any non-random process e.g. odd or even date of birth; hospital or clinic record number); or
- unclear risk.

2. Allocation concealment (checking for possible selection bias). Was allocation adequately concealed?

For each included study, we categorised the method used to conceal the allocation sequence as:

- low risk (e.g. telephone or central randomisation; consecutively numbered sealed opaque envelopes);
- high risk (open random allocation; unsealed or non-opaque envelopes, alternation; date of birth); or
- unclear risk.



3. Blinding of participants and personnel (checking for possible performance bias). Was knowledge of the allocated intervention adequately prevented during the study?

For each included study, we categorised the methods used to blind study participants and personnel from knowledge of which intervention a participant received. Blinding was assessed separately for different outcomes or class of outcomes. We categorised the methods as:

- low risk, high risk, or unclear risk for participants; and
- low risk, high risk, or unclear risk for personnel.

4. Blinding of outcome assessment (checking for possible detection bias). Was knowledge of the allocated intervention adequately prevented at the time of outcome assessment?

For each included study, we categorised the methods used to blind outcome assessment. Blinding was assessed separately for different outcomes or class of outcomes. We categorised the methods as:

- low risk for outcome assessors;
- high risk for outcome assessors; or
- unclear risk for outcome assessors.

5. Incomplete outcome data (checking for possible attrition bias through withdrawals, dropouts, protocol deviations). Were incomplete outcome data adequately addressed?

For each included study and for each outcome, we described the completeness of data including attrition and exclusions from the analysis. We noted whether attrition and exclusions were reported, the numbers included in the analysis at each stage (compared with the total randomised participants), reasons for attrition or exclusion, where reported, and whether missing data were balanced across groups or were related to outcomes. Where sufficient information was reported or supplied by the trial authors, we re-included missing data in the analyses. We categorised the methods as:

- low risk (< 20% missing data);
- high risk (≥ 20% missing data); or
- unclear risk.

6. Selective reporting bias. Are reports of the study free of suggestion of selective outcome reporting?

For each included study, we described how we investigated the possibility of selective outcome reporting bias and what we found. For studies in which study protocols were published in advance, we compared prespecified outcomes versus outcomes eventually reported in the published results. If the study protocol was not published in advance, we contacted study authors to gain access to the study protocol. We assessed the methods as:

- low risk (where it is clear that all of the study's prespecified outcomes and all expected outcomes of interest to the review have been reported);
- high risk (where not all the study's prespecified outcomes have been reported; one or more reported primary outcomes were not
 prespecified outcomes of interest and were reported incompletely and so could be used; study failed to include results of a key outcome
 that would have been expected to have been reported); or
- unclear risk.

7. Other sources of bias. Was the study apparently free of other problems that could put it at a high risk of bias?

For each included study, we described any important concerns we had about other possible sources of bias (for example, whether there was a potential source of bias related to the specific study design or whether the trial was stopped early due to some data-dependent process). We assessed whether each study was free of other problems that could put it at risk of bias as:

- low risk;
- high risk;
- unclear risk.

If needed, we explored the impact of the level of bias through undertaking sensitivity analyses.

Appendix 3. Previous search methods

MEDLINE via PubMed:



1	lipids[MeSH] OR Fatty Acids, Omega-3[MeSH] OR Fish Oils [MeSH]
2	fat[tiab] OR lipid*[tiab] OR "medium chain triglycerides"[tiab] OR MCT[tiab] OR microlipid[tiab] OR "Arachidonic Acid"[tiab] OR "Docosahexaenoic acid"[tiab] OR "Omega-3 Fatty acids"[tiab] OR "Omega-6 fatty acids"[tiab] OR "N-3 Fatty Acid"[tiab] OR "N-6 Fatty Acid" OR LCPUFA OR linolenate
3	(Fish[tiab] OR "Cod Liver"[tiab] OR corn[tiab] OR safflower[tiab] OR soy[tiab] OR coconut[tiab]) AND Oil*[tiab]
4	(PUFA[tiab] OR Fatty Acid*[tiab]) OR (Polyunsaturated[tiab] AND n-3[tiab])
5	(alpha-Linolenic OR Docosahexaenoic OR Docosahexenoic OR Docosahexaenoate OR Eicosapen- taenoic OR Eicosapentanoic OR Timnodonic OR Icosapentaenoic OR Fatty Omega-3) AND Acid*
6	1 OR 2 OR 3 OR 4 OR 5
7	Milk, Human[MeSH]
8	breastmilk*[tiab]
9	((human[tiab] OR breast[tiab] OR expressed[tiab] OR mother*[tiab] OR maternal[tiab] OR donor*[tiab]) AND milk*[tiab])
10	7 OR 8 OR 9
11	((infant, newborn[MeSH] OR newborn OR neonate OR neonatal OR premature OR low birth weight OR VLBW OR LBW or infan* or neonat*) AND (randomized controlled trial [pt] OR controlled clinical trial [pt] OR randomized [tiab] OR placebo [tiab] OR drug therapy [sh] OR randomly [tiab] OR trial [tiab] OR groups [tiab]) NOT (animals [mh] NOT humans [mh]))
12	6 AND 10 AND 11

Embase:

1	exp lipid/
2	exp omega 3 fatty acid/
3	exp fish oil/
4	exp medium chain triacylglycerol/
5	exp arachidonic acid/
6	exp docosahexaenoic acid/
7	exp omega 6 fatty acid/
8	exp linolenic acid/
9	(fat or lipid* or 'medium chain triglycerides' or MCT or microlipid or LCPUFA or linolenate).ti,ab.
10	((Fish or 'Cod Liver' or corn or safflower or soy or coconut) adj Oil*).ti,ab.



(Continued)	
11	(('alpha linolenic' or arachidonic or docosahexaenoic or docosahexenoic or docosahexaenoate or eicosapentaenoic or eicosapentanoic or timnodonic or icosapentaenoic or 'fatty omega-3' or 'Omega-3 Fatty' or 'Omega-6 fatty'or 'N-3 Fatty' or 'N-6 Fatty') adj acid*).ti,ab.
12	((PUFA or Fatty Acid* or Polyunsaturated) adj n-3).ti,ab.
13	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 or 9 or 10 or 11 or 12
14	exp breast milk/
15	((human or breast or expressed) adj milk\$).ti,ab.
16	((mother\$ or maternal or donor\$) adj milk\$).ti,ab.
17	14 or 15 or 16
18	(infan* or newborn or neonat* or premature or very low birth weight or low birth weight or VLBW or LBW).mp. [mp=title, abstract, heading word, drug trade name, original title, device manufacturer, drug manufacturer, device trade name, keyword, floating subheading word]
19	exp infant/
20	18 or 19
21	(human not animal).mp. [mp=title, abstract, heading word, drug trade name, original title, device manufacturer, drug manufacturer, device trade name, keyword, floating subheading word]
22	(randomized controlled trial or controlled clinical trial or randomized or placebo or clinical trials as topic or randomly or trial or clinical trial).mp. [mp=title, abstract, heading word, drug trade name, original title, device manufacturer, drug manufacturer, device trade name, keyword, floating sub- heading word]
23	20 and 21 and 22
24	13 and 17 and 23

CINAHL:

S1	(MH "Fatty Acids, Omega-3+") OR (MH "Fatty Acids, Omega-6+") OR (MH "Fatty Acids, Unsaturat- ed+")
S2	TI (((Fish or 'Cod Liver' or corn or safflower or soy or coconut) N2 Oil*)) OR AB (((Fish or 'Cod Liver' or corn or safflower or soy or coconut) N2 Oil*))
S3	TI ((fat or lipid* or 'medium chain triglycerides' or MCT or microlipid or LCPUFA or linolenate)) OR AB ((fat or lipid* or 'medium chain triglycerides' or MCT or microlipid or LCPUFA or linolenate))
S4	TI ((('alpha linolenic' or arachidonic or docosahexaenoic or docosahexenoic or docosahexaenoate or eicosapentaenoic or eicosapentanoic or timnodonic or icosapentaenoic or 'fatty omega-3' or 'Omega-3 Fatty' or 'Omega-6 fatty'or 'N-3 Fatty' or 'N-6 Fatty') N2 acid*)) OR AB ((('alpha linolenic' or arachidonic or docosahexaenoic or docosahexenoic or docosahexaenoate or eicosapentaenoic or eicosapentanoic or timnodonic or icosapentaenoic or 'fatty omega-3' or 'Omega-3 Fatty' or 'Omega-6 fatty'or 'N-3 Fatty' or 'N-6 Fatty') N2 acid*))

(Continued)	
S5	TI (((PUFA or Fatty Acid* or Polyunsaturated) N2 n-3)) OR AB (((PUFA or Fatty Acid* or Polyunsatu- rated) N2 n-3))
S6	S1 OR S2 OR S3 OR S4 OR S5
S7	MH "Milk, Human+" OR TI (((human or breast or expressed) N2 milk*)) OR AB (((human or breast or expressed) N2 milk*)) OR TI (((mother* or maternal or donor*) N2 milk*)) OR AB (((mother* or maternal or donor*) N2 milk*)) OR TI "breastmilk" OR AB "breastmilk"
S8	(infan* OR newborn OR neonat* OR premature OR low birth weight OR VLBW OR LBW) AND (ran- domized controlled trial OR controlled clinical trial OR randomized OR placebo OR clinical trials as topic OR randomly OR trial OR PT clinical trial)
S9	S6 AND S7 AND S8

Cochrane Library:

1	MESH DESCRIPTOR Fish Oils EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET		
2	MESH DESCRIPTOR Fatty Acids, Omega-3 EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET		
3	MESH DESCRIPTOR Fatty Acids, Omega-6 EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET		
4	MESH DESCRIPTOR Eicosanoic Acids EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET		
5	MESH DESCRIPTOR Docosahexaenoic Acids EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET		
6	MESH DESCRIPTOR Linoleic Acid EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET		
7	(fat or lipid* or 'medium chain triglycerides' or MCT or microlipid or LCPUFA or linolenate) : TI,AB AND CENTRAL:TARGET		
8	((Fish or 'Cod Liver' or corn or safflower or soy or coconut) NEXT Oil*) :TI,AB,KW AND CENTRAL:TAR- GET		
9	(('alpha linolenic' or arachidonic or docosahexaenoic or docosahexenoic or docosahexaenoate or eicosapentaenoic or eicosapentanoic or timnodonic or icosapentaenoic or 'fatty omega-3' or 'Omega-3 Fatty' or 'Omega-6 fatty'or 'N-3 Fatty' or 'N-6 Fatty') NEXT acid*):TI,AB,KW AND CEN- TRAL:TARGET		
10	((PUFA or Fatty Acid* or Polyunsaturated) NEXT n-3):TI,AB,KW AND CENTRAL:TARGET		
11	#1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 OR #6 OR #7 OR #8 OR #9 OR #10		
12	MESH DESCRIPTOR Milk, Human EXPLODE ALL AND CENTRAL:TARGET		
13	((human OR breast OR expressed) NEAR2 milk*):TI,AB,KW AND CENTRAL:TARGET		
14	((mother* or maternal or donor*) NEAR2 milk*): TI,AB,KW AND CENTRAL:TARGET		
15	#12 OR #13 OR #14		

(Continued)

16

(infan* or newborn or neonat* or premature or preterm or very low birth weight or low birth weight or VLBW or LBW) AND CENTRAL:TARGET

17	#11 AND #15 AND #16

WHAT'S NEW

Date	Event	Description
20 October 2020	Amended	Abstract results amended to better align with summary of find- ings table.
		In future, this review will no longer be updated, as it will be su- perseded by Cochrane Review Multi-nutrient fortification of hu- man milk for preterm infants (Brown 2020).

HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 3, 1997 Review first published: Issue 3, 1999

Date	Event	Description
29 June 2020	New search has been performed	 We updated the search for eligible studies to August 2019. We found no new randomised controlled trials eligible for inclusion in this review.
29 June 2020	New citation required but conclusions have not changed	A supplementary search was carried out in August 2019. No new studies were identified. The main conclusions of the original review remain unchanged.
9 February 2018	New citation required but conclusions have not changed	A supplementary search was carried out in February 2018. No new studies were identified. The main conclusions of the original review remain unchanged.
23 January 2018	New search has been performed	 We updated the search for eligible studies to February 2018. We found no new randomised controlled trials eligible for inclusion in this review. We included body mass index and measures of body composition in the growth parameters of the primary outcome. We also included new secondary outcome measures: long-term measures of cardio-metabolic health (such as insulin resistance, obesity, diabetes and hypertension). These outcomes were aligned with those of the Cochrane Review Multi-Nutrient Fortification of Human Milk for Preterm Infants Brown 2016. We incorporated the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) approach to assess the quality of evidence.
10 April 2002	New search has been performed	This is an update of the existing review of "Fat supplementation of human milk for promoting growth in preterm infants", The Cochrane Library, Issue 3, 1999.



Date	Event	Description
		No new trials were located in the search done in April 2002, and as a result, no substantive changes were made in the review. There was no change to the conclusion that there is insufficient evidence evaluating the supplementation of human milk with fat in preterm infants to make recommendations for practice.
13 December 1999	New citation required and conclusions have changed	Substantive amendment

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

For the 2018 update:

Emma Amissah assessed study eligibility, performed data extraction and 'Risk of bias' assessment of included studies, analysed data, interpreted results of the analysis, and updated the review. She wrote all drafts and addressed comments from co-authors.

Julie Brown assessed study eligibility, performed data extraction and 'Risk of bias' assessment of included studies, assisted in the interpretation of analyses, and provided comments on drafts.

Jane Harding answered queries on trial eligibility, assisted in the interpretation of analyses, and provided comments on all drafts of the review.

All authors read and approved the final version of the review.

For the 2020 update:

Only the search was updated, with no new trials found. The search was screened by Cochrane Neonatal in consultation with Jane Harding. All previous author contributions remain the same, as the text of the review remains unchanged.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

EA receives a scholarship in the form of a stipend from the University of Auckland as a PhD student.

JB is currently employed by a medical writing company. The preparation of this review took place prior to this employment and her current work is not related to the topic of this review.

JH has partial salary support from research grants from the Health Research Council of New Zealand. The Council has no role in the production of this review. An undirected research grant is pending from Biomed Ltd, Auckland, New Zealand. This company makes dextrose gel.

Core editorial and administrative support for the 2020 update of this review has been provided by a grant from The Gerber Foundation. The Gerber Foundation is a separately endowed, private foundation, independent from the Gerber Products Company. The grantor has no input on the content of the review or the editorial process (see Sources of support).

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• Liggins Institute, The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand

External sources

- We acknowledge the support from the Australian and New Zealand Pregnancy and Childbirth Satellite at the Liggins Institute, The University of Auckland, New Zealand
- National Institute for Health Research, UK

Editorial support for Cochrane Neonatal has been funded with funds from a UK National Institute of Health Research (NIHR) Cochrane Programme Grant (16/114/03). The views expressed in this publication are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the National Health Service, the NIHR or the UK Department of Health.



Vermont Oxford Network, USA

Cochrane Neonatal Reviews are produced with support from Vermont Oxford Network, a worldwide collaboration of health professionals dedicated to providing evidence-based care of the highest quality for newborn infants and their families.

• The Gerber Foundation, USA

Editorial support for this review, as part of a suite of preterm nutrition reviews, has been provided by a grant from The Gerber Foundation. The Gerber Foundation is a separately endowed, private, 501(c)(3) foundation not related to Gerber Products Company in any way.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

For the 2018 update:

The original protocol was published in 1997, and was the basis of the last version of this review written in 2000. The 2018 update aligned the review outcomes with those of the Cochrane Review, Multi-nutrient fortification of human milk for preterm infants (Brown 2016). We added body mass index and measures of body composition as part of growth parameters of the primary outcome. We also included new secondary outcome measures: long-term measures of cardio-metabolic health (such as insulin resistance, obesity, diabetes, and hypertension) We also added the 'Summary of Findings' tables and GRADE recommendations, which were not included in the original protocol.

For the 2020 update:

As of July 2019, Cochrane Neonatal no longer searches Embase for its reviews. RCTs and controlled clinical trials (CCTs) from Embase are added to the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) via a robust process (see How CENTRAL is created). Cochrane Neonatal has validated their searches to ensure that relevant Embase records are found while searching CENTRAL.

Also starting in July 2019, Cochrane Neonatal no longer searches for RCTs and CCTs on the following platforms: ClinicalTrials.gov or from The World Health Organization's International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP), as records from both platforms are added to CENTRAL on a monthly basis (see How CENTRAL is created). Comprehensive search strategies are executed in CENTRAL to retrieve relevant records. The ISRCTN (at www.isrctn.com/, formerly Controlled-trials.com), is searched separately.

We did not search CINAHL for this update. The 2018 search methods are listed in Appendix 3.

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

Dietary Fats [*administration & dosage]; *Dietary Supplements; *Infant Nutritional Physiological Phenomena; Infant, Premature [*growth & development]; *Milk, Human

MeSH check words

Humans; Infant, Newborn